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From: DGR Inbox
Sent: Tuesday, 25 May 2021 11:34 AM
To: Executive Director
Cc: DGR Inbox
Subject: RE: The Governor-General's Australian Future Leaders Foundation [SEC=OFFICIAL]

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

OFFICIAL 
Good morning Chris,  
 
Thank you for your time on the phone this morning, and for providing us with: 

 Donation estimates; and  

 The Australian Future Leaders Foundation’s (the Foundation) Constitution 
to support its specific listing application.  
 
We will begin processing the Foundation’s application, and will be in touch if we require anything further. Thank 
you.  
 
If you have any further queries, please contact me through dgr@treasury.gov.au. 

Kind regards,  
 

 
Analyst 
Not for Profit Unit | Individuals and Indirect Tax Division | Revenue Group  
Phone: +  

OFFICIAL 
From: Executive Director    
Sent: Tuesday, 25 May 2021 8:38 AM 
To: DGR Inbox <DGR@TREASURY.GOV.AU> 
Subject: Re: The Governor‐General's Australian Future Leaders Foundation [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 
 
 

On 25 May 2021, at 08:32, Executive Director   
wrote: 
 
Good morning   
 
thank you for your email and as requested I attach the Constitution for The Governor‐General’s 
Australian Future Leaders Foundation below. If there is anything else I can add to the original 
submission, the Constitution and the Public Fund Rules please let me know.  
 
The animated summary of the program may be found 
here  https://vimeo.com/548792752/3b7d3f636e  and serves a quick introduction to this nation 
building program.  
 
I anticipate that Treasury are concerned about foregone revenue and observe that, although 
impossible to predict with accuracy, there will be very few individual donors entitled to a tax 
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deductible receipt. It is my expectation that the majority of donations will come from Public and 
Private Ancillary Funds, who will not be claiming a tax receipt.   
 
Excluding payment for services and the limited funds expected from sponsorships and public 
donations, the vast majority of the funding will need to come from high wealth individuals and 
families (which increasingly give through their public and private ancillary funds). 
 
We will not be able to seek such contributions without DGR endorsement, which means the whole 
viability of the Foundation and its initiatives depends on obtaining DGR endorsement through 
specific listing. 
 
Year One 
Individuals 
Businesses
Ancillary Funds 

 
 
Year Two 
Individuals 
Businesses
Ancillary Funds 

 
 
Year Three 
Individuals
Businesses
Ancillary Funds 

 
 
 
Year Four 
Individuals
Businesses
Ancillary Funds 

 
 
ACNC registration remains en train. 
 
Kind regards 
 
Chris Hartley  

 
 

On 12 May 2021, at 09:17, DGR Inbox <DGR@TREASURY.GOV.AU> wrote: 
 

OFFICIAL 
  
Good morning Chris,  
  
Thank you for your email attaching the specific listing application for The Australian 
Future Leaders Foundation (the Foundation). 
  
As a specific listing request is a change in the tax law, Ministerial and Government 
approval is required. It can take around two years to process a successful 
application and amend the tax law, depending on the priorities of the Government’s 

s 47F

s 45

s 45

s 45

s 45

s 45

s 45

s 45

s 45



3

legislation program. An organisation only becomes a specifically listed DGR after the 
tax law has been amended to reflect this. 
  
Specific listing is only available in exceptional circumstances. Of the over 30,000 
entities with DGR status, only around 200 are specifically listed. Applicants must 
meet a high bar to merit listing by name in the tax law. 
  
Thank you for providing us with a copy of the Foundation's Public Fund Rules. To 
progress your application further, we would be grateful if you could please provide 
us with: 

 A copy of the Foundation's Constitution, a link to a website is acceptable as 
well; and 

 The rough estimates of the tax‐deductible donations that the Foundation 
expects to receive in the next four years, should it be successful in obtaining 
DGR status, inputted into the table below.  
  

    Year 1  Year 2  Year 3  Year 4 

Individuals             

Business             

Ancillary Funds             

  
We would also be grateful if you could please notify us with the outcome of the 
registration process with the Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profits Commission. 
  
If you have any queries, please contact me through dgr@treasury.gov.au. 

Kind regards, 
  

 
Analyst 
Not for Profit Unit | Individuals and Indirect Tax Division | Revenue Group 
Phone: +  
  

OFFICIAL 
‐‐‐‐‐Original Message‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Chris Hartley    
Sent: Thursday, 29 April 2021 8:17 AM 
To: DGR Inbox <DGR@TREASURY.GOV.AU> 
Subject: The Governor‐General's Australian Future Leaders Foundation 
  
Dear Treasurer, 
  
please find attached correspondence and a request for expedited DGR status for 
The Governor‐General’s Australian Future Leaders Foundation. 
  
Correspondence also copied to the Official Secretary and PM&C. 
  
Thank you very much. 
  
Kind regards 
  
Chris Hartley 
Executive Director 
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Please Note: The information contained in this e-mail message and any attached files may be 
confidential information and may also be the subject of legal professional privilege.  If you are 
not the intended recipient, any use, disclosure or copying of this e-mail is unauthorised.  If you 
have received this e-mail by error please notify the sender immediately by reply e-mail and 
delete all copies of this transmission together with any attachments. 

 

 



From: Rowbotham, Jacky
To:
Cc:
Subject: RE: re: Question from PM&C registered charity and deductable gift [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Date: Friday, 18 June 2021 3:49:07 PM
Attachments: image001.png

OFFICIAL
Hi 
I have checked with my team and Treasury has received Chris Hartley’s 27 April 2021 application
for specific listing for the Australia Future Leaders Foundation.
The application is being progressed for consideration in MYEFO as per the usual process. If specific
listing is supported by the Government, the Foundation would likely be listed in the ITAA97 in the
Autumn sittings 2022. The Foundation would not be eligible for DGR endorsement before this
time.
Please get in touch if you would like to discuss further.
Cheers
Jacky
Jacky Rowbotham
Assistant Secretary
Not-for-Profits & Tax Administration Branch
The Treasury, Langton Crescent, Parkes ACT 2600
phone: +61 2 6263 3350
mobile: +
email: jacky.rowbotham@treasury.gov.au

OFFICIAL
From: @pmc.gov.au> 
Sent: Thursday, 17 June 2021 10:12 AM
To: Rowbotham, Jacky <Jacky.Rowbotham@TREASURY.GOV.AU>
Subject: RE: re: Question from PM&C registered charity and deductable gift [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Hi Jacky
Thanks for getting in touch about this – is there a good time to catch you today?
Cheers

 Senior Adviser
Government Division | Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet
e. @pmc.gov.au | w. www.pmc.gov.au | p. 
One National Circuit Barton ACT 2600 | PO Box 6500 CANBERRA ACT 2600

From: Rowbotham, Jacky <Jacky.Rowbotham@TREASURY.GOV.AU> 
Sent: Tuesday, 8 June 2021 6:37 PM
To: Barrett, Angela <Angela.Barrett@TREASURY.GOV.AU>; @pmc.gov.au>
Subject: RE: re: Question from PM&C registered charity and deductable gift [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
No worries Angela. I have left a message with  J
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Jacky Rowbotham
Assistant Secretary
Not-for-Profits & Tax Administration Branch
The Treasury, Langton Crescent, Parkes ACT 2600
phone: +61 2 6263 3350
mobile: 
email: jacky.rowbotham@treasury.gov.au

OFFICIAL
From: Barrett, Angela <Angela.Barrett@TREASURY.GOV.AU> 
Sent: Tuesday, 8 June 2021 4:53 PM
To: Rowbotham, Jacky <Jacky.Rowbotham@TREASURY.GOV.AU>; 

@pmc.gov.au>
Subject: re: Question from PM&C registered charity and deductable gift [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
Jacky
Can you please give  (cc’d) a call in relation to some questions about a foundation that is
applying to be registered as a charity.

raised these with me when we were discussing an unrelated matter and I said I would
connect him with the right contact.

 | Senior Adviser
Government Division | Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet

Regards
Angela
Dr Angela Barrett
Assistant Secretary Executive Coordination and Governance
Corporate and Foreign Investment Group
The Treasury, Langton Crescent, Parkes ACT 2600
Ph: +61 2 6263 4745 | M: + | Email: angela.barrett@treasury.gov.au
www.treasury.gov.au
Follow us: Twitter | LinkedIn | Facebook
The Treasury acknowledges the traditional owners of country throughout Australia, and their continuing connection to land,
water and community. We pay our respects to them and their cultures and to elders both past and present.

OFFICIAL

Please Note: The information contained in this e-mail message and any attached
files may be confidential information and may also be the subject of legal
professional privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, disclosure or
copying of this e-mail is unauthorised. If you have received this e-mail by error
please notify the sender immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies of this
transmission together with any attachments.

______________________________________________________________________

IMPORTANT: This message, and any attachments to it, contains information 
that is confidential and may also be the subject of legal professional or 
other privilege. If you are not the intended recipient of this message, you 
must not review, copy, disseminate or disclose its contents to any other 
party or take action in reliance of any material contained within it. If you 
have received this message in error, please notify the sender immediately by 
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return email informing them of the mistake and delete all copies of the 
message from your computer system. 
______________________________________________________________________



From:
To:
Cc: Rowbotham, Jacky; 
Subject: Australian Future Leaders Foundation [SEC=OFFICIAL:Sensitive]
Date: Monday, 5 July 2021 11:02:10 AM
Attachments: GGAFL.Treasurer.DGR. 27.04.21.PDF

3455-3418-5747 5 Constitution - The Australian Future Leaders Foundation.pdf

OFFICIAL:Sensitive
Hello 
I believe you were speaking with Jacky about the Australian Future Leaders Foundation’s
application for specific listing.
Please find attached their application and constitution. At this stage we expect costing
information to be ready around early August.
Kind Regards,

A/g Director
Not-for-profit Unit, Individuals and Indirect Tax Division
The Treasury, Langton Crescent, Parkes ACT 2600
phone: (02)
mobile: 
email: @treasury.gov.au

OFFICIAL:Sensitive
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Constitution 

 

 
The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited 
ACN 649 403 654 
 
A public company limited by guarantee  

 

13 April 2021 
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Part A – Preliminary matters 

1 Defined terms and interpretation 
The Dictionary and Interpretation provisions in Schedule 1: 

(a) define some of the terms used in this constitution; 

(b) set out the rules of interpretation which apply to this constitution; and 

(c) clarify the effect of the Corporations Act on this constitution. 

2 Name, nature of company and liability 
(a) The name of the company is The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited 

or, if the name is lawfully changed in accordance with the Corporations Act and 
this constitution, that name. 

(b) The company is a public company limited by guarantee which is established to 
be, and to continue as, a charity. 

(c) The liability of each member is limited. Each member guarantees to contribute 
up to a maximum of $10 to the assets of the company if it is wound up while 
the member is a member, or within one year afterwards, and at the time of 
winding up the debts and liabilities of the company exceed its assets. The 
liability of each member is limited to making such contribution and no more. 

Part B – Purpose  

3 Purpose and activities of the company 
3.1 Purpose 

The purpose of the company is to advance education, with a focus on building the 
skills, experience and capability of Australia’s future leaders (Charitable Purpose).  

3.2 Activities  

The activities of the company must be conducted in the furtherance of its Charitable 
Purpose and may include:  

(a) providing education and educational courses relating to leadership skills and 
strategies; 

(b) promoting and encouraging education related to leadership;  

(c) engaging with Australian Governments and universities to facilitate leadership 
training and educational courses;  
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(d) developing educational material and content, taking from top performing leaders 
and leadership training from Australia and overseas;  

(e) establishing and fostering a vibrant alumni community; and 

(f) any other activities ancillary to or necessary for the fulfilment of the Charitable 
Purpose. 

Part C – Members and membership 

4 Membership 
4.1 Members of the company  

(a) The members of the company are those: 

(i) noted as such on the application for the incorporation of the company; 
and  

(ii) applicants that have been admitted as members of the company in 
accordance with rule 4.2, 

and have not since ceased to be a member. 

(b) If an applicant is admitted as a member of the company, the secretary must 
ensure: 

(i) the applicant is given notice of admission as a member of the company; 
and 

(ii) the name and details of the applicant are entered in the members’ 
register in accordance with rule 4.5. 

(c) The secretary must ensure that each applicant not admitted as a member of the 
company is informed of this decision. The directors may, but are not required 
to, provide reasons for the decision not to admit an applicant into membership.  

4.2 Becoming a member  

(a) To be eligible to become a member of the company an applicant must:  

(i) have a genuine commitment to and an understanding of the Charitable 
Purpose; and 

(ii) be 18 years of age or older. 

(b) To become a member of the company an applicant must: 

(i) satisfy the eligibility criteria under rule 4.2(a); 

(ii) be admitted into membership by a resolution of directors  ; and 
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(iii) ensure that all information provided when applying for membership of the 
company is true and accurate and is not misleading or deceptive. 

(c) The directors may, at their complete discretion, choose to postpone the 
assessment of all (but not some) membership applications received during the 
period between the calling of a general meeting and the holding of the general 
meeting to which the notice relates, or any adjournments of that meeting 
(including by modifying any application delegations or processes). 

4.3 Member’s rights 

In addition to the voting rights set out in rule 6.8, each member has the right to receive 
notices of and to attend and be heard at any general meeting of the company.  

4.4 Membership not transferable 

Membership of the company and the associated rights cannot be transferred or sold 
in any manner whatsoever. 

4.5 Register of members 

(a) A register of members must be kept in accordance with the law. 

(b) Without limiting the requirement under rule 4.5(a), the following must be entered 
in the register in respect of each member: 

(i) the name and address of the member; 

(ii) the date of admission to and cessation of membership; and 

(iii) any other information required by the directors or the law from time to 
time. 

4.6 Membership fees 

(a) Unless otherwise determined by the members, the joining fee and annual 
membership fee for membership of the company is $0.  

(b) A member that has not paid the required membership fee in accordance with 
this rule 4.6 may not, for as long as the fee remains unpaid, exercise any of the 
rights associated with that member’s membership, including the right to 
exercise any vote the member may have at a meeting of members. 

(c) The joining fee and annual membership fee that may be required under this rule 
4.6 are exclusive of any GST that may be payable.  

4.7 Membership renewal 

The directors may, at their discretion, send a notice to one or more members 
requiring that member to confirm or to renew membership of the company and/or to 
confirm or update that member’s details (Membership Renewal Notice). 
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5 Ceasing to be a member  
5.1 General overview  

(a) There are a number of reasons why a member’s membership will stop. For 
instance, if a member:  

(i) resigns from membership (see rule 5.2); 

(ii) automatically stops being a member (see rule 5.3); or 

(iii) is expelled from membership (see rule 5.4). 

(b) The directors may adopt such other policies and procedures relating to the 
disciplining, suspension and expulsion of members as they so determine from 
time to time provided they are consistent with the requirements set out in this 
rule 5. 

(c) Where a member ceases to be a member in accordance with the law or this 
constitution, that member’s name must be removed from the register of 
members.  

(d) Upon the removal of a member’s name from the register of members: 

(i) the member will forfeit all rights and privileges attached to membership 
and all rights which that member may have against the company arising 
out of the membership; and 

(ii) the company will have no liability to such member in respect of that 
member’s removal from the register of members.  

(e) Any member that ceases to be a member remains liable for: 

(i) any moneys which may be owing by that member to the company; and 

(ii) in the case of the company being wound up within one year of the date of 
cessation of membership, the relevant contribution under rule 2(c). 

5.2 Resignation from membership  

A member may resign from membership of the company at any time by providing 
written notice to the company addressed to the Chairperson or the secretary. Unless 
the notice provides otherwise, the resignation takes effect from the date the notice is 
received. 

5.3 Automatic stopping of membership  

A member’s membership will automatically stop if the member:  

(a) dies; 

(b) ceases to be a director of the company; 
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(c) fails to be appointed as a director within three months after being admitted into 
membership; 

(d) fails to pay any required membership fee in accordance with rule 4.6 within one 

month after the date on which that membership fee becomes due or such later 
time as the directors may determine; or 

(e) fails to return a Membership Renewal Notice in accordance with rule 4.7 within 
one month after the return due date specified in that notice or such later time as 
determined by the directors. 

5.4 Disciplining, suspension and expulsion of members  

(a) This rule 5.4 describes what needs to happen when considering whether to 
discipline a member. In summary, the process involves: 

(i) putting the member in question on notice and giving the opportunity to 
provide information; and 

(ii) passing a directors’ resolution to warn, suspend, expel or otherwise 
discipline that member. 

(b) Provided the steps set out in this rule 5.4 are followed, the directors may 
resolve to warn, suspend, expel or otherwise discipline a member if that 
member:  

(i) has refused or failed to comply with the provisions of this constitution; or  

(ii) has acted in a way that, in the opinion of the directors, is , or could be, 
prejudicial to the interests or reputation of the company, 

 (Member Disciplinary Resolution). 

(c) The directors must give the member in question at least 14 days’ prior notice of 
the date that the directors will consider the Member Disciplinary Resolution. 
This notice must be in writing and inform the member: 

(i) that the directors are to consider warning, suspending, expelling or 
otherwise disciplining the member (as the case may be);  

(ii) of the reasons why the directors are considering taking the determined 
action;  

(iii) of the right for the member to give the directors, either orally or in writing, 
any explanation or defence relevant to the proposed disciplinary action; 

(iv) of the date, place and time of the meeting at which the resolution is to be 
considered; and 

(v) of the right for the member to attend the meeting at which the resolution 
is to be considered but not to be present during any director deliberations 
or the putting of or voting on the resolution unless the directors resolve 
otherwise.  
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(d) Where a director is also a member subject to a Member Disciplinary 
Resolution, that director is not entitled to vote on the relevant Member 
Disciplinary Resolution. 

(e) Where a Member Disciplinary Resolution relates to the expulsion of a member, 
such resolution must be passed as a special resolution of at least 75% of 
directors. Any other Member Disciplinary Resolution, including in relation to the 
warning or suspension of a member, may be passed as an ordinary resolution 
of directors.  

(f) Directors must notify the relevant member in writing about the directors’ 
decision within 14 days after the date a Member Disciplinary Resolution is 
passed, but failure to do so does not invalidate the decision.  

(g) The directors’ decision in relation to the Member Disciplinary Resolution is final 
and takes effect as at the date the Member Disciplinary Resolution is passed.  

6 General meetings 
6.1 Introduction  

(a) For as long as the company is registered as a charity with the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission or its successor, and for as long as 
the law permits or requires, the directors: 

(i) unless the Corporations Act otherwise requires a meeting of members for 
a particular resolution to be passed, may determine whether or not to 
hold meetings of members including annual general meetings;  

(ii) must ensure that the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Governance Standards, in particular Governance Standard 2 relating to 
accountability to members, are complied with; and  

(iii) must ensure that if the company does hold a meeting of members, it 
does so in accordance with this constitution and the Corporations Act 
despite the fact that the provisions of the Corporations Act dealing with 
members’ meetings may not be directly applicable to the company. 

(b) If there is any inconsistency between the Corporations Act and this constitution 
with respect to the calling and holding of members’ meetings then, to the extent 
permitted by law, the provisions of this constitution will prevail.  

6.2 Calling of general meetings 

A general meeting of members may be initiated by: 

(a) a resolution of the directors; 

(b) the members in accordance with the Corporations Act; or 

(c) the court in accordance with the Corporations Act. 

6.3 Notice of general meetings 
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(a) Subject to the provisions of the Corporations Act dealing with consent to short 
notice, if a general meeting of members (including any annual general meeting) 
is called under rule 6.2 at least 21 days’ notice of that meeting must be given to 
each person who is at the date of the notice: 

(i) a member of the company eligible to receive notices of meetings; 

(ii) a director of the company; or 

(iii) the auditor of the company. 

(b) A notice of a general meeting must specify: 

(i) the date, time and place of the meeting;  

(ii) if the meeting is to be held in two or more places, the technology that will 
be used to facilitate the meeting; 

(iii) the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting, 
including the text of any resolutions to be proposed at the meeting; and  

(iv) any other matters required under the law. 

(c) Notwithstanding rule 6.3(b), where the company holds an annual general 
meeting, the ordinary business of that meeting may include any of the following, 
even if not referred to in the notice of meeting: 

(i) the consideration of the annual financial report, the directors’ report and 
the auditor’s report; and 

(ii) the appointment of the auditor and the fixing of the auditor’s remuneration.  

(d) A person who is entitled to receive notice of a general meeting or who is 
requested by the Chairperson to attend a general meeting is entitled to be 
present whether or not the person is a member. 

6.4 Quorum at general meetings 

(a) No business may be transacted at any general meeting, except the election of 
a chair (if required) and the adjournment of the meeting, unless a quorum is 
present when the meeting proceeds to business and the quorum remains 
present throughout the meeting. 

(b) The quorum for a general meeting of members is a majority of current members 

present in person or by proxy and entitled under these rules to vote at a general 
meeting. 

(c) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for a 
general meeting:  

(i) where the meeting was convened by, or at the request of, a member or 
members, the meeting must be dissolved; or 
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(ii) where the meeting was convened by, or at the request of, the directors or 
the court: 

(A) the meeting stands adjourned to the day, and at the time and place, 
as the directors determine or, if no determination is made by the 
directors, to the same day in the next week at the same time and 
place; 

(B) at the adjourned meeting the quorum is two members present in 
person or by proxy and entitled under these rules to vote at a 
general meeting; and 

(C) if, at the adjourned meeting, a quorum is not present within 30 
minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the meeting must 
be dissolved.  

(d) In determining whether a quorum is present pursuant to rule 6.4(b) or 
6.4(c)(ii)(B):  

(i) if an individual is attending both as a member and as a proxy, the 
individual must only be counted once; and 

(ii) if a member has appointed more than one proxy, only one proxy must be 
counted. 

6.5 Chair of general meetings 

(a) Subject to rule 6.5(b), the Chairperson must preside as chair at each general 
meeting. 

(b) If at a general meeting: 

(i) there is no Chairperson; 

(ii) the Chairperson is absent from the meeting (or part of the meeting); or 

(iii) the Chairperson is present but is prevented from acting or not willing to 
act as chair of the meeting or of part of the meeting, 

the Deputy Chairperson (if there is one) must preside as chair of that meeting or 
part of it until such time as the Chairperson joins the general meeting or can 
resume the role of chair (as applicable). 

(c) Subject to rules 6.5(a) and 6.5(b), if at a general meeting: 

(i) there is no Chairperson and no Deputy Chairperson; 

(ii) the Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson are absent from the meeting (or 
part of the meeting); or 

(iii) the Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson are present but are prevented 
from acting or not willing to act as chair of the meeting or of part of the 
meeting, 
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the members present may elect a person present to be chair of that meeting or 
part of it until such time as the Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson joins the 
general meeting or can resume the role of chair (as applicable). 

6.6 Conduct of and participation in general meetings 

(a) The chair of a general meeting is responsible for the general conduct of the 
meeting and for the procedures to be adopted at the meeting and may require 
the adoption of any procedures which are in the opinion of the chair necessary 
or desirable for: 

(i) proper and orderly debate or discussion; and 

(ii) the proper and orderly casting or recording of votes. 

(b) The chair of a general meeting at which a quorum is present must if so directed 
by the members present with a majority of votes, adjourn the meeting from time 
to time and place to place. However, no business is to be transacted at an 
adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting at 
which the adjournment took place.  

(c) Notice of an adjournment and the business to be transacted at an adjourned 
meeting must be given to all persons who were entitled to receive notice of the 
meeting the subject of the adjournment. 

(d) In addition to the rights provided for in rule 6.3(a)(iii) and 6.3(c), the auditor of the 
company (if any) will be entitled to be heard at any general meeting which the 
auditor attends. 

(e) A meeting of members may be held in two or more places linked together by 
any technology provided it: 

(i) gives the members as a whole in those places a reasonable opportunity 
to participate in proceedings; 

(ii) enables the chair to determine whether the person participating in the 
meeting is in fact a member or attorney of a member; 

(iii) enables the chair of the meeting to be aware of proceedings in each 
place; and 

(iv) enables the members in each place to vote on a Show of Preference and 
on a poll. 
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6.7 Decisions at general meetings 

(a) Except in the case of any resolution which under this constitution or as a matter 
of law requires a special resolution, questions arising at a general meeting are 
to be decided by a majority of votes cast by the members present at the 
meeting (including being present by technological means) and who are entitled 
to vote. Such decision is then for all purposes a decision of the members. 

(b) In the case of an equality of votes upon any proposed resolution at a meeting of 
members the chair may exercise a second or casting vote in addition to any 
vote the chair may have as a member of the company. 

(c) Unless a poll is demanded, a resolution put to the vote of a general meeting 
must be decided on a show of preference of members, with each member 
present indicating a preference by a means appropriate to that member and that 
is readily interpreted and understood by the chair (Show of Preference). 

(d) A member may only exercise one vote on a Show of Preference regardless of 
whether that member also holds one or more proxies. 

(e) A poll may be demanded before a vote being decided by a Show of Preference 
is taken or before or immediately after the declaration of the result of the Show 
of Preference: 

(i) by the chair of the meeting; 

(ii) by at least five members present and entitled to vote on the relevant 
resolution; or 

(iii) by a member or members present at the meeting and representing at 
least 5% of the votes that may be cast on the resolution on a poll.  

(f) Unless a poll is demanded, a declaration by the chair on the result of a vote on 
a Show of Preference is decisive of the outcome of that resolution. Such 
declaration does not need to refer to the number or proportion of votes for or 
against the resolution. 

(g) Except for a poll on the question of an adjournment which must be taken 
immediately, if a poll is demanded at a general meeting, it will be taken when 
and in the manner that the chair directs, and in all cases the result of the poll 
will be recorded as a resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded.  

(h) A poll cannot be demanded at a general meeting on the appointment of a chair 
of the meeting.  

(i) The demand for a poll may be withdrawn. 

6.8 Voting rights 

(a) Each member has the right to exercise one vote: 

(i) on a Show of Preference at a meeting of members; 

(ii) on a poll at a meeting of members; and  
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(iii) when voting upon a resolution to be determined without a meeting under 
rule 6.11.  

(b) An objection to the qualification of a person to vote at a general meeting: 

(i) must be raised before or immediately after the result of the resolution for 
which the vote objected to is given; and 

(ii) must be referred to the chair of the meeting, whose decision is final.  

(c) A vote not disallowed by the chair of a meeting under rule 6.8(b) is valid for all 
purposes. 

6.9 Representation at general meetings 

(a) Subject to this constitution, each member entitled to vote at a meeting of 
members may vote: 

(i) in person; 

(ii) by proxy in a form as the directors may prescribe or accept; or 

(iii) by attorney in a form as the directors may prescribe or accept.  

(b) A proxy or attorney may, subject to rule 4.2, be a member of the company but 
does not need to be. 

(c) The chair of a meeting may require any person purporting to act as a proxy or 
attorney to establish to the satisfaction of the chair that the person has been 
validly appointed as a proxy or attorney and is the person named in the relevant 
instrument of appointment, failing which the chair may exclude that person from 
attending or voting at the meeting. 

(d) If the company receives a proxy form from a member without the name of the 
proxy in that proxy form filled in, then the proxy of that member will be: 

(i) the person specified by the company in the proxy form as being the 
proxy; or  

(ii) if no such person is specified by the company in the proxy form, the chair 
of the meeting for which that proxy applies. 

(e) A proxy or attorney may not vote at a general meeting or adjourned meeting 
unless the instrument appointing the proxy or attorney is received: 

(i) at the registered office of the company or at another place or electronic 
address specified for that purpose in the notice convening the meeting; 
and 

(ii) at least 48 hours before the time scheduled for the commencement of the 
meeting. 

(f) Unless the company has received prior written notice of one or more of the 
circumstances listed at rules 6.9(f)(i) to 6.9(f)(iii),  a vote cast by a proxy or 
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attorney at a meeting of members is valid even if, before the proxy or attorney 
votes: 

(i) the member dies, or in the case of a member that is a body corporate is 
subject to an insolvency event, is dissolved or wound up; 

(ii) the member revokes the proxy’s or attorney’s appointment; or 

(iii) the member revokes the authority under which a third party appointed the 
proxy or attorney. 

(g) Unless otherwise permitted by the chair, the authority of a proxy or attorney to 
speak and vote for a member at a general meeting is suspended while that 
relevant member is present at the meeting. 

6.10 Meetings conducted using technological means 

(a) Subject to the Corporations Act and this constitution, the contemporaneous 
linking together by a form of technology of a number of members sufficient to 
constitute a quorum constitutes a general meeting.  

(b) Where a general meeting is held at two or more venues using any form of 
technology: 

(i) a member participating in the meeting is taken to be present in person at 
the meeting; 

(ii) the provisions of this constitution relating to general meetings apply, so 
far as they can and with such changes as are necessary, to general 
meetings held using that technology;  

(iii) the meeting is taken to be held at the place determined by the chair 
provided that at least one of the members present at the meeting was at 
the place for the duration of the general meeting; and 

(iv) the conduct of the meeting must comply with any policies and 
procedures relating to the meetings conducted using technological 
means as determined by the directors from time to time. 

(c) If the technology used in rule 6.10(b) encounters a technical difficulty, whether 
before or during the general meeting, which results in a member not being able 
to participate in the meeting, the chair may, subject to the Corporations Act and 
the requirements of rule 6.4 being satisfied: 

(i) allow the meeting to continue; or 

(ii) adjourn the meeting either for a reasonable period of time as may be 
required to fix the technology or to such other date, time and location as 
the chair of the meeting considers appropriate.  

(d) For the avoidance of doubt, where the chair has allowed the general meeting to 
continue in accordance with rule 6.10(c)(i), any resolution passed at that 
meeting is valid. 
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(e) Subject to the Corporations Act and this constitution, the directors may make 
policies and procedures relating to the passing of member resolutions by 
technological means as determined by the directors from time to time. 

6.11 Decisions without meetings  

Unless the Corporations Act requires the holding of a meeting, members may pass 
resolutions and otherwise make decisions outside of a members’ meeting in any 
manner (including through the use of technology) provided: 

(a) all members entitled to vote on the resolutions are sent a copy of the 
resolutions and are given a reasonable time to respond considering the urgency 
and nature of the matters under consideration;  

(b) each such resolution is passed by at least a 75% majority of all current 
members (unless a higher number or threshold is required under this 
constitution or by law); and 

(c) such manner complies with: 

(i) the law; and  

(ii) any policies and procedures relating to the passing of member 
resolutions as determined by the directors from time to time. 

6.12 Resolutions of single member company 

If the company has only one member, the company may pass a resolution by that 
member recording it and signing the record. That record is to be taken as a minute of 
the passing of that resolution. 

Part D – Not-for-profit  

7 No profits for members 
(a) Subject to rule 7(b), the assets and income of the company must be applied 

solely in furtherance of the Charitable Purpose and no portion of the income or 
assets of the company may be paid or transferred, directly or indirectly, to any 
member. 

(b) The company may, with the approval of the directors, make payment in good 
faith to a member of the company: 

(i) by way of reasonable and proper payment for any goods supplied or 
services rendered to the company (including payment as a consultant or 
employee);  

(ii) by way of interest on money lent to the company by that member at a 
reasonable and proper rate per annum not exceeding the rate for the time 
being charged by the company's bankers on overdrawn accounts;  
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(iii) by way of reasonable and proper rent for premises let by that member to 
the company;  

(iv) by way of a grant (or similar contribution) awarded in furtherance of the 
Charitable Purpose; 

(v) as a result of the member’s participation in a social bond or similar 
program of the company; and 

(vi) for authorised out-of-pocket expenses reasonably and properly incurred 
by that member in connection with the affairs of the company. 

(c) For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this rule 7:  

(i) prevents a member from receiving such services as may ordinarily be 
provided by the company in the course of undertaking its activities ; or 

(ii) prohibits a member from receiving a minor benefit that is directly related 
to membership of the company. 

Part E – Directors and secretary 

8 Directors 
8.1 Number of directors 

(a) The minimum number of directors is three. Subject to rule 8.1(b), the maximum 
number of directors is nine.  

(b) The directors may change the maximum number of permitted director positions 
in the manner required by the Corporations Act.  

(c) If at any time the number of directors falls below three, the remaining director or 
directors may act but only: 

(i) in an emergency;  

(ii) for the purpose of convening a general meeting of the company; or  

(iii) for the purpose of increasing the number of directors to three. 

8.2 Becoming a director  

Subject to rules 8.3 and 8.4, a person becomes a director of the company by 
appointment by the directors. 

8.3 Qualifications and requirements of directors  

To be eligible to become a director a person must:  

(a) be a member of the company;  

(b) be 18 years of age or older;  
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(c) subject to rule 8.4(c), be nominated by the Nominations Committee;  

(d) not be ineligible to be a director under the Corporations Act or the ACNC Act; 

(e) have knowledge about and be committed to the Charitable Purpose; and 

(f) meet any other criteria relating to the composition of the board and skills and 
qualifications of directors as may be determined by the directors from time to 
time. 

8.4 Nominations Committee 

(a) The directors must establish a committee for the purpose of seeking,  assessing 
and nominating candidates for director positions (Nominations Committee).  

(b) The Nominations Committee must:  

(i) be comprised of three people, one of whom must be a member;  

(ii) be chaired by a person chosen by the members of the Nominations 
Committee; and  

(iii) ensure the board is comprised of directors who collectively have the 
skills, experience, knowledge and diversity needed to further the 
Charitable Purpose. 

(c) The directors may appoint one or more persons as a director without first 
receiving a nomination from the Nominations Committee in the following 
circumstances: 

(i) to increase the number of directors to the minimum required under rule 
8.1(a); 

(ii) if a director position has been vacant for at least six months and the 
Nominations Committee has not nominated anyone appropriate to fill the 
vacant position; or  

(iii) if the law requires.  

(d) Each appointment made under rule 8.4(c) is to be for a period of up to 12 
months with the precise period to be determined by the directors at the time of 
the appointment.  

8.5 Directors’ term of office and term limits  

(a) The term of office of a director, other than a director appointed under rule 8.4(c), 
commences on the date that person is appointed as a director and continues 
for the period determined by the directors at the time of appointment – such 
period not to exceed three years.  

(b) Each director is to remain as a director until that person’s term of office expires 
or until that person resigns or is otherwise removed as a director of the 
company in accordance with the law and this constitution. 
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(c) A person who holds, or has held, the position of director is not restricted in how 
many terms of office that person may serve and is eligible for reappointment. 

8.6 Ceasing to be a director 

(a) In addition to the circumstances prescribed by law (including the Corporations 
Act and the ACNC Act), the office of any director becomes vacant if the 
director:  

(i) dies; 

(ii) is, due to physical or mental impairment, unable to properly perform the 
duties of a director, as determined by a suitably qualified professional 
acting reasonably; 

(iii) is convicted of an indictable offence;  

(iv) ceases to be a member; or 

(v) fails to attend three or more consecutive directors’ meetings in any 12 
month period without leave of absence approved by the directors. 

(b) Nothing in rule 8.6(a) prevents a director from vacating office by providing a 
written notice of resignation to the company addressed to the Chairperson or 
the secretary. Unless the notice provides otherwise, the resignation takes effect 
from the date the notice is received. 

8.7 Payments to directors 

(a) Directors must not receive any payment for acting as a director but, subject to 
rule 8.7(b), each director is entitled to: 

(i) be reimbursed for all reasonable authorised travelling and other expenses 
properly incurred by them in connection with the affairs of the company, 
including attending and returning from general meetings of the company, 
meetings of the directors and meetings of committees; and 

(ii) receive payment for any goods supplied or services rendered to the 
company (other than in their role as a director), as long as the amount is 
proper and reasonable in the circumstances. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything else in this constitution, no payment of any kind can 
be made by the company to a director unless that payment is approved by: 

(i) the directors; or  

(ii) such other person or persons to whom the directors may have delegated 
such authority in a way consistent with rule 8.17 or rule 8.18. 
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8.8 Interested directors 

(a) No contract made by a director with the company and no contract or 
arrangement entered into by or on behalf of the company in which any director 
may be in any way interested is voided or rendered voidable merely because the 
director holds office as a director or because of the fiduciary obligations arising 
out of that office. 

(b) Each director must disclose all personal interests and other matters that could, 
or do, give rise to a conflict of interest in relation to a matter or decision being 
considered by the directors. 

(c) Where a director has a material personal interest in a matter to be considered 
at a meeting, that director must not be present while the matter is being 
considered at the meeting or vote on the matter, unless the directors who do 
not have a material personal interest pass a resolution in accordance with the 
Corporations Act which permits that director to do so. 

(d) If rule 8.8(c) operates to the effect that there are not enough directors to form a 
quorum for a directors’ meeting, one or more directors (including those who 
have a material personal interest) may call a general meeting and the general 
meeting may pass a resolution to deal with the matter. 

(e) Subject to rule 8.8(f), a director who is in any way interested in a contract or 
arrangement (other than by having a material personal interest which is to be 
dealt with in accordance with rule 8.8(c)) may, despite that interest: 

(i) be counted in determining whether or not a quorum is present at any 
meeting of directors considering that contract or arrangement;  

(ii) sign or countersign any document relating to that contract or 
arrangement; and 

(iii) remain present in the meeting and vote in relation to that contract or 
arrangement or any matter arising out of those things. 

(f) Rule 8.8(e) does not apply if, and to the extent that, it would be contrary to law. 

8.9 Powers and duties of directors 

(a) The directors are responsible for the governance, business and affairs of the 
company and may exercise all the powers of the company which are not 
required by the law or this constitution to be exercised by the members. 

(b) The directors must comply with their duties as directors under legislation and 
common law. For as long as the company is registered as a charity with the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission or its successor, the 
company must also ensure the directors comply with the requirements 
described in Governance Standard 5 of the regulations made under the ACNC 
Act which are to ensure the directors: 

(i) exercise their powers and discharge their duties with the degree of care 
and diligence that a reasonable individual would exercise if they were a 
director of the company; 
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(ii) act in good faith in the best interests of the company and to further the 
Charitable Purpose; 

(iii) do not misuse their position as a director; 

(iv) do not misuse information that they gain in their role as a director;  

(v) disclose any perceived or material conflicts of interest;  

(vi) ensure that the financial affairs of the company are managed responsibly; 
and 

(vii) do not allow the company to operate while insolvent. 

(c) Where permitted by the Corporations Act, if the company has only one 
member, and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of that member, a director may act 
in the best interests of the member. 

8.10 Directors’ meetings  

(a) The directors may hold meetings (including by technological means) for the 
conduct of business and regulate them as they think fit.  

(b) The directors should meet as often as required for the proper discharge of their 
directors’ duties and in any event no less than four times per year.  

8.11 Convening of meetings of directors 

A meeting of directors may be convened by the Chairperson or any two of the 
directors.  

8.12 Notice of directors’ meetings  

(a) Notice of a directors’ meeting must be given to each current director, other than 
a director on leave of absence approved by the directors.  

(b) A notice of a directors’ meeting must: 

(i) be given in a way permitted by rule 14;  

(ii) specify the time and place of and, if relevant, the form of technology for, 
the meeting; 

(iii) state the nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting; and  

(iv) be provided with sufficient time for the directors to properly consider the 
subject matter contained within the notice and any accompanying 
materials.  

(c) A resolution passed at a directors’ meeting is valid even in circumstances 
where a director did not receive notice of the meeting, provided: 

(i) the notice was not received because of accident or error; 
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(ii) before or after the meeting, that director notifies the company of their 
agreement with the resolution; or 

(iii) the director attended the meeting. 

8.13 Quorum for directors’ meetings  

(a) No business may be transacted at a directors’ meeting unless there is a 
quorum of directors at the time the business is dealt with. 

(b) A quorum consists of a majority of current directors.  

(c) For the avoidance of doubt, a director is present at a meeting if participating by 
technological means such as by telephone. 

(d) If, within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, a quorum is not 
present, then, without prejudice to the right of those present to discuss but not 
to vote on any matter, the meeting will be dissolved or stand adjourned to such 
time, date and place as those present at the meeting decide and as notified to 
all directors in accordance with rule 8.12(a). 

8.14 Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson 

(a) The directors may appoint a director to the office of chairperson of directors 
(Chairperson) and may appoint a different director to the office of deputy 
chairperson of directors (Deputy Chairperson) and, subject to rule 8.5, 
determine the period for which each director is to hold such office. 

(b) The directors may remove a director from the office of Chairperson and Deputy 
Chairperson at any time but doing so does not remove that person as a director. 

(c) A person may only fill the office of Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson for as 
long as that person is a director of the company.  

(d) Subject to rule 8.14(e), the Chairperson must preside as chair at each directors’ 
meeting. 

(e) If at a meeting of directors: 

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
part of it until such time as the Chairperson joins the meeting or can resume the 
role of chair (as applicable). 

(f) Subject to rules 8.14(d) and 8.14(e), if at a meeting of directors: 

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

the directors present may elect one of themselves to be chair of the meeting or 
part of the meeting until such time as the Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson 
joins the meeting or can resume the role of chair (as applicable). 

8.15 Decisions of directors 

(a) A directors’ meeting at which a quorum is present is competent to exercise all 
or any of the authorities, powers and discretions vested in or exercisable by the 
directors under the law and this constitution. 

(b) Questions arising at a directors’ meeting and any other matter to be determined 
by the directors under this constitution are (unless a higher number or threshold 
is required under the law or this constitution) to be decided by a majority of 
votes cast by the directors present. A decision of a kind made in accordance 
with this rule is for all purposes a determination of the directors.  

(c) If there are an equal number of votes cast for and against a resolution at a 
directors’ meeting, then the chair may exercise a second or casting vote in 
addition to any vote the chair may have as a director of the company. 

8.16 Decisions without meetings 

Directors may pass resolutions outside of a directors’ meeting in any manner 
(including through the use of technology) provided: 

(a) all directors other than a director on an approved leave of absence are sent a 
copy of the resolutions and are given a reasonable time to respond considering 
the urgency and nature of the matters under consideration; 

(b) any such resolution is passed by at least a two thirds majority of all current 
directors (unless a higher threshold is required by law or this constitution); and 

(c) such manner complies with: 

(i) the law; and  

(ii) any policies and procedures relating to the passing of director resolutions 
as determined by the directors from time to time. 

8.17 Committees 

(a) In addition to the Nominations Committee established in accordance with rule 
8.4, the directors may resolve to:  

(i) establish one or more committees consisting of such persons as they 
determine;  
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(ii) delegate to each committee such of their powers required for the effective 
and efficient running and administration of the committee; 

(iii) revoke any or all of the powers delegated to each committee and vary the 
nature and scope of the powers delegated; and 

(iv) change the makeup of a committee at any time or dissolve it all together.  

(b) A committee must be conducted, and exercise the powers delegated to it, in 
accordance with any directions of the directors which, for the avoidance of 
doubt, may be contained within policies, terms of reference, guidelines or 
protocols.  

(c) The directors may continue to exercise all of their powers despite any 
delegation made under this rule. 

8.18 Delegation to individuals 

(a) The directors may resolve to delegate any of their powers to such individual or 
individuals as they so determine including:  

(i) to one or more directors; 

(ii) to one or more members; or 

(iii) to one or more employees. 

(b) The directors may delegate their powers for such time as they determine and 
may revoke or vary any power so delegated. 

(c) A person to whom any powers have been delegated must exercise the powers 
delegated in accordance with any directions of the directors. 

(d) The directors may continue to exercise all of their powers despite any 
delegation. 

(e) A delegation under this rule need not be to a specified person but may be to 
any person from time to time holding, occupying or performing the duties of a 
specified office or position. 

8.19 Validity of acts 

An act done by a director or by a meeting of the directors or a committee attended by 
a director is not invalid just because: 

(a) of a defect in the appointment of the director; 

(b) the person is disqualified from being a director or has vacated office; or  

(c) the person is not entitled to vote, 

if that circumstance was not known by the person or the directors or committee, as 
the case may be, when the act was done. 
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9 Secretaries 
(a) The directors must appoint at least one secretary who may be, but does not 

need to be, a director. 

(b) The appointment of a secretary may be for the period, on the conditions and, 
subject to rule 9(c), at the remuneration as the directors determine. 

(c) A director must not be remunerated in that person’s capacity as a secretary.  

(d) Subject to any contract between the company and the relevant secretary, a 
secretary of the company may be removed or dismissed by the directors at any 
time, with or without cause. If that person is a director, such removal or 
dismissal does not remove that person from office as a director.  

(e) The duties of the secretary include: 

(i) ensuring that the necessary registers required by the law are established 
and properly maintained; 

(ii) ensuring that any required annual returns and annual reports are lodged 
with the appropriate regulator on time; and 

(iii) ensuring the organisation of, and attendance at, meetings of the 
members and the directors, including the sending out of notices, the 
preparation of agenda and the compilation of minutes. 

(f) An act done by a person acting as a secretary is not invalid just because: 

(i) of a defect in the person's appointment as a secretary; or 

(ii) the person is disqualified from being a secretary, 

if that circumstance was not known by the person or the directors when the act 
was done. 

Part F – Winding up and loss of endorsement 

10 Winding up  
(a) Before the company is wound up, it must first wind up each of the deductible 

gift recipient endorsed funds it operates (if any), in accordance with each fund’s 
winding up requirements. 

(b) If upon the winding up or dissolution of the company there remains after 
satisfaction of all of its debts and liabilities, any property or moneys whatsoever 
(Surplus Assets), such Surplus Assets must only be given or distributed to one 
or more Eligible Recipients.  

(c) The decision about which Eligible Recipient is (or which Eligible Recipients are) 
to be given the Surplus Assets under rule 10(b) is to be determined: 
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(i) by a resolution of the members at or before the winding up or dissolution 
of the company; or 

(ii) if no such resolution is passed, by the Supreme Court. 

11 Loss of deductible gift recipient endorsement 
(a) If the company is endorsed as a deductible gift recipient as a whole and this 

endorsement is revoked, then the following assets remaining after the payment 
of all liabilities must be distributed to one or more Eligible Recipients: 

(i) deductible gifts of money or property received for the Charitable Purpose; 

(ii) deductible contributions made in relation to an eligible fundraising event 
held to raise funds for the Charitable Purpose; and 

(iii) money received by the company because of such deductible gifts and 
contributions. 

(b) The decision about which funds, authorities or institutions are to receive the 
funds distributed in accordance with rule 11(a) is to be determined by a 
resolution of the members. 

Part G – Administrative matters 

12 Minutes, records and negotiable instruments 
12.1 Minutes 

The directors must ensure that the following minutes are recorded, approved and kept 
in accordance with the law: 

(a) meetings and resolutions of members (including those made without meetings 
under rule 6.11); 

(b) meetings and resolutions of directors (including those made without meetings 
under rule 8.16); and 

(c) meetings and resolutions of committees. 

12.2 Inspection of records 

(a) Subject to the law and rule 12.2(b), the directors may determine whether and to 
what extent, and at what time and places and under what conditions, the 
minute books, accounting records and other documents of the company or any 
of them will be open for inspection. 

(b) A member may, upon reasonable notice to the directors, inspect any books, 
records or documents of the company, provided the information obtained is only 
used for a proper purpose in connection with membership of the company.   
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(c) The company must establish and administer all registers required to be kept by 
law and each member must provide the company with such information as is 
required for the company to comply with this rule. If events occur which would 
cause the information contained in a register maintained by the company to be 
inaccurate the member must notify the company in writing of the change within 
21 days of the member becoming aware that such change has occurred.  

(d) Unless proved incorrect, the register is sufficient evidence of the matters shown 
in the register. 

(e) The company must keep all financial and other records required by law. 

12.3 Negotiable instruments 

The directors may determine how cheques, promissory notes, banker’s drafts, bills of 
exchange or other negotiable instruments or other documents must be signed, drawn, 
accepted, endorsed or otherwise executed, as the case may be, by or on behalf of 
the company. 

13 Indemnity and insurance 
(a) To the extent permitted by law, the company indemnifies its officers (both 

current and past) for all losses or liabilities incurred by the person as an officer 
of the company including, but not limited to, a liability for negligence or for legal 
costs on a full indemnity basis. 

(b) This indemnity: 

(i) may only be for losses or liabilities incurred as an officer of the company 
(either before or after the adoption of this rule);  

(ii) does not cover any loss or liability of an officer seeking to be indemnified 
under this rule if that loss or liability arises from that person’s wilful 
misconduct or fraud; and  

(iii) operates only to the extent that the loss or liability is not paid by 
insurance. 

(c) To the extent permitted by law, the company may take out and pay for 
insurance for the benefit of its officers (both current and past) against any 
liability incurred by the person as an officer of the company including, but not 
limited to, a liability for negligence or for legal costs. 

(d) To the extent permitted by law, the company may enter into an agreement 
(including a deed) with a person who is or agrees to become or has been an 
officer of the company on any terms and conditions that the directors think fit to 
give effect to the rights of that person under this rule 13. Any such agreement 
may also give the person rights to inspect and obtain copies of the books of the 
company for the purposes, and on such other terms and conditions, as the 
directors resolve. 
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14 Notices 
14.1 Giving of notices 

Any notice, document or other communication required or permitted to be given under 
this constitution or law may be given in any manner (including through the use of 
technology) provided such manner complies with: 

(a) the law; and  

(b) any policies and procedures relating to the giving and receiving of notices, 
documents and other communications as determined by the directors from time 
to time. 

14.2 Timing of services 

(a) Where a notice is served personally, service of the notice is taken to be effected 
when delivered.  

(b) Where a notice is sent by post, service of the notice is taken to be effected if a 
prepaid envelope containing the notice is properly addressed and placed in the 
post: 

(i) in the case of a notice of a general meeting, on the day after the date of 
its posting; or 

(ii) in any other case, at the time at which the letter would be delivered in the 
ordinary course of post. 

(c) Where a notice is sent by electronic means, including email or fax, service of 
the notice is taken to be effected: 

(i) when the sender receives an automated message confirming delivery; or 

(ii) 30 minutes after the time sent (as recorded on the device from which the 
sender sent the email) unless the sender receives an automated 
message that the notice has not been delivered, 

whichever happens first.  

(d) If the delivery or receipt of a notice is on a day which is not a Business Day or 
is after 5.00pm on a Business Day, it is deemed to be received at 9.00am on 
the following Business Day.  

15 General 
(a) Common seal: The company may, but is not required to, have and use a 

common seal. If the directors determine that the company have a common seal, 
then it must be kept and used in accordance with the law. 

(b) Formulating rules: Without limiting the directors’ powers under this 
constitution, the directors may from time to time make regulations and rules 
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about any matter related to the operations or conduct of the company (including 
establishing and maintaining a public fund), provided such regulations and rules 
are not inconsistent with the law or this constitution. If there is any 
inconsistency between regulations and rules formulated pursuant to this rule 
15(b) and the provisions of this constitution or the law, the provisions of this 
constitution and the law will prevail. 

(c) Submission to jurisdiction: Each member submits to the non-exclusive 
jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New South Wales, the Federal 
Court of Australia and the Courts which may hear appeals from those Courts.  
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Schedule 1 Dictionary 

1 Dictionary 
In this constitution: 

ACNC Act means the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 
(Cth). 

Business Day means a day on which banks are open for business excluding 
Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays in the place where the company’s registered 
office is located. 

Chairperson has the meaning given at rule 8.14(a). 

Charitable Purpose  has the meaning given at rule 3.1.  

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

Deputy Chairperson has the meaning given at rule 8.14(a). 

Eligible Recipient means an organisation that: 

(a) has charitable objects or purposes similar to the Charitable Purpose; 

(b) has a governing document which requires its income and property to be applied 
in promoting its objects and agrees to use any distribution provided to it by the 
company to further such objects or purposes; 

(c) is registered as a charity with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission; 

(d) by law or its constituent rules, is prohibited from distributing, and does not 
distribute, its income and property amongst its members (either while it is 
operating or upon winding up) to an extent at least as great as is  imposed upon 
the company; and 

(e) if the company is endorsed as a deductible gift recipient for the purpose of any 
Australian federal tax law, is similarly endorsed as a deductible gift recipient. 

Member Disciplinary Resolution has the meaning given at rule 5.4(b). 

Membership Renewal Notice  has the meaning given at rule 4.7. 

Nominations Committee has the meaning given at rule 8.4. 

Show of Preference has the meaning given at rule 6.7(c). 

Surplus Assets has the meaning given at rule 10(b). 
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2 Interpretation 
2.1 General 

(a) In this constitution the words ‘constitution’, ‘director’, ‘secretary’, ‘member’ and 
the like are, and should be interpreted to be, references to the constitution, 
director, secretary, member and the like (as the case may be) of the company 
named in rule 2(a) unless the context otherwise requires. 

(b) A reference in a rule in general terms to a person holding or occupying a 
particular office or position includes a reference to any person who occupies or 
performs the duties of that office or position for the time being. 

(c) In this constitution, headings are for convenience only and do not affect the 
interpretation of this constitution. 

(d) Unless the contrary intention appears, in this constitution: 

(i) words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa; 

(ii) words importing a gender include every other gender; 

(iii) words used to denote persons generally include any individual, company, 
corporation, body corporate, body politic, partnership, joint venture, 
association, board, group or other body (whether or not the body is 
incorporated); 

(iv) a reference to any statute, regulation, proclamation, ordinance or by-laws 
includes all statutes, regulations, proclamations, ordinances or by-laws 
varying, consolidating or replacing them and a reference to a statute 
includes all regulations, proclamations, ordinances and by-laws issued 
under that statute;  

(v) the words ‘including’, ‘such as’, ‘for example’ and the like are not, and 
should not be interpreted to be, words of limitation, unless explicitly 
stated otherwise; and 

(vi) where a word or phrase is given a particular meaning, other parts of 
speech and grammatical forms of that word or phrase have corresponding 
meanings. 

(e) A requirement in this constitution for something to be carried out in writing will 
be satisfied if the matter in question is carried out in some other lawful manner 
that is approved by the directors. 

(f) In this constitution, where communication from a member to the company must 
be ‘signed’ by a member, in addition to any other methods permitted by law, the 
member may sign in any manner that allows the directors to be satisfied, acting 
reasonably, that the communication is from the relevant member, including by 
using an electronic signature.  
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(g) ‘Writing’ or ‘written’ includes modes of representing or reproducing words, 
figures, drawings or symbols in a visible or tactile form which renders the 
message retrievable by people who know the language in question. 

2.2 Replaceable rules not to apply 

The replaceable rules contained in the Corporations Act from time to time do not 
apply to the company. 
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PROTECTED//CABINET
Hi 
We have been working on the basis that the GR NPPs will be included in the Treasury PBS
scheduled for , but the final list of NPPs and the issue of authority is still being
considered and agreed between our CFO area and the Treasurer’s Office.
I have attached the draft NPPs here for your reference in the meantime and I understand 
has talked you through our potential draft Pink positions – please just let us know if you need
anything further.
We will let you know as soon as we hear anything finite on process and timing through our
channels.
Cheers

PROTECTED//CABINET
From: @pmc.gov.au> 
Sent: Tuesday, 9 November 2021 11:14 AM
To: @TREASURY.GOV.AU>
Cc: @TREASURY.GOV.AU>
Subject: MYEFO DGR proposals [SEC=PROTECTED, CAVEAT=SH:CABINET]

PROTECTED//CABINET
Hi 
Called earlier but missed you.
Last time we spoke I understand there were GR proposals (one for specific listing of a
particular entity, ) that will be coming forward in MYEFO
Treasury Portfolio Submission for ERC consideration on .
Checking if they’re still going ahead, and if so, whether you have settled authority to come at
MYEFO.
If you happen to have draft NPPs that you could share with us that would be greatly appreciated.
Many thanks

| Adviser
Taxation, Superannuation and Financial Sector Policy | Economic Division
Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet
P: @pmc.gov.au | tax@pmc.gov.au
Ngunnawal Country, One National Circuit Barton ACT 2600 | PO Box 6500 CANBERRA ACT 2600

The Department acknowledges and pays respect to the past, present and emerging Elders and
Traditional Custodians of Country, and the continuation of cultural, spiritual and educational
practices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

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
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Question 1: 
Senator AYRES: One of Mr Hartley's other charities, the Gurkha Welfare Fund Australia Limited, was delisted for 
failing to lodge reports to the charity regulator. Did your due diligence process pick that up? 
Mr Reid: I'm aware of that. 
Senator AYRES: The entity was listed in MYEFO—I think you were referring to this earlier, Minister—in a small 
update of specifically listed deductible gift recipients, and its status was legislated just last week. Can you tell me 
whether the Prime Minister, his office or the department was involved in any discussions about DGR status for the 
foundation? 
Mr Reid: PM&C was involved in discussions about the status. 
Senator AYRES: And deductible gift recipient status was backdated to 1 July 2021—is that right? 
Mr Reid: I'd have to take that on notice, I don't have that information in front of me. 
Senator AYRES: Why would that have been the case? 
Mr Reid: Senator, I'll have to take that on notice. 
 
Draft response:  
Please note we have taken the “earlier” entity as The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited and have based 
our response accordingly. Gurkha Welfare Fund Australia Limited is not specifically listed as a Deductible Gift 
Recipient (DGR). 
 
The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited was provided with DGR status from 1 July 2021 through the 
specific listing process. The 1 July 2021 effective date of DGR specific listing was due to the entity applying for DGR 
specific listing on 27 April 2021, by emailing Treasury at dgr@treasury.gov.au [Treasury – please confirm the email 
process was used rather than writing to the AT?]. There were six entities to be listed as DGRs in Treasury Laws 
Amendment (Cost of Living Support and Other Measures) Act 2022. Of these, five entities, including The Australian 
Future Leaders Foundation Limited, were announced in the 2021‐22 MYEFO and listed as DGRs from 1 July 2021.  
 
Question 2: 
Senator AYRES: Who made the request for DGR status? Was it the department or the Governor‐General's office? 
How was that advanced? 
Mr Reid: The Department of the Treasury manages them. I'd have to take on notice the process— 
Senator AYRES: Do you fill in a form? What is there? How does it— 
Mr Reid: There's a process. 
Senator AYRES: I'd like to know when the process began and who advanced it. Are you able to come back to us 
later in the day? 
Mr Reid: I'll do my best, Senator. 
 
Draft response:  
The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited requested for DGR specific listing on 27 April 2021 by emailing 
Treasury at dgr@treasury.gov.au [Treasury – please confirm the email process was used rather than writing to the 
AT?]. The application was consistent with the information advised to be included, as publically available on 
Treasury’s website. Treasury’s consideration of the application was routine. Treasury sought further information 
from the applicant on 12 May 2021, including requesting estimates of donations expected to be received, a copy of 
the foundation’s constitution, and information on the outcome of its registration process with the Australian 
Charities and Not‐for‐profits Commission. This information was received by Treasury on 25 May 2021.  
 
Treasury undertook costing of the expected impact on revenue of this application during June 2021. The proposal 
for DGR specific listing of The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited was considered through the budget 
process and subsequently announced in the 2021‐22 MYEFO on 16 December 2021.  
 
Treasury received confirmation from the Australian Taxation Office that The Australian Future Leaders Foundation 
Limited had met the public fund requirements on 8 February 2022. Treasury requested and received an ASIC 
certificate of registration from The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited on 9 February 2022. The Australian 
Future Leaders Foundation Limited was consequently included in the next appropriate legislative vehicle, The 
Treasury Laws Amendment (Cost of Living Support and Other Measures) Act 2022, alongside five other entities that 
had similarly passed the public fund requirement check. The bill was introduced and passed by both Houses of 
Parliament on 30 March 2022 and received Royal Assent on 31 March 2022.  
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______________________________________________________________________  
IMPORTANT: This message, and any attachments to it, contains information  
that is confidential and may also be the subject of legal professional or  
other privilege. If you are not the intended recipient of this message, you  
must not review, copy, disseminate or disclose its contents to any other  
party or take action in reliance of any material contained within it. If you  
have received this message in error, please notify the sender immediately by  
return email informing them of the mistake and delete all copies of the  
message from your computer system.  
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
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ATTACHMENT A – LETTERS TO APPLICANTS 

 



 

THE HON MICHAEL SUKKAR MP 
Assistant Treasurer 

Minister for Housing 
                      Minister for Homelessness, Social and Community Housing 

 

Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600 Australia 
Telephone: 61 2 6277 7230 

 

Ref:  MS21-002993  

 
Mr Chris Hartley  
Executive Director  
The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited 
Level 35, Tower 2 
200 Barangaroo Ave 
SYDNEY  NSW  2000 

Dear Mr Hartley 

Thank you for your application seeking to specifically list The Australian Future Leaders Foundation 
Limited in the income tax law as a deductible gift recipient (DGR).   
 
I am pleased to advise that the Government has agreed to specifically list The Australian Future 
Leaders Foundation Limited as a DGR with the special condition that the gift must be made after 30 
June 2021. 

As you may be aware, listing as a DGR by name involves a change in the tax law, specifically an 
amendment to Division 30 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. Therefore, the deductibility of 
donations to The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited is subject to the amending legislation 
being passed by Parliament.  

The Government will introduce legislation as soon as practicable to give effect to its decision once the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO) has advised that the public fund requirements have been met. The 
ATO will be in contact to assist The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited with the public 
fund requirements for this specific listing.  

Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
The Hon Michael Sukkar MP 
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PROTECTED   

Additional Documents 
The additional Parliamentary documents for each of the Bills will be provided to your Office 
separately and are listed below: 
• Statement of Reasons to enable introduction and passage in the same sitting; 
• Backbencher’s Brief; 
• Consultation Summary;  
• Joint Party Room Submission; 
• Press Release; 
• Prime Minister’s Office Brief; 
• Questions and Answers; 
• Speaking Notes; 
• Second Reading Speeches; and 
• Summing-up Speeches (both for the House of Representatives and the Senate). 
 
Minor formatting and editorial changes to the Bills and Explanatory Memorandum may be 
made to the versions attached prior to the documents being sent to the printer. 
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OFFICIAL SENSITIVE  

 
Question 1: 
Senator AYRES: One of Mr Hartley's other charities, the Gurkha Welfare Fund Australia Limited, was 
delisted for failing to lodge reports to the charity regulator. Did your due diligence process pick that 
up? 
Mr Reid: I'm aware of that. 
Senator AYRES: The entity was listed in MYEFO—I think you were referring to this earlier, Minister—
in a small update of specifically listed deductible gift recipients, and its status was legislated just last 
week. Can you tell me whether the Prime Minister, his office or the department was involved in any 
discussions about DGR status for the foundation? 
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
The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited was provided with Deductible Gift Recipient (DGR) 
status from 1 July 2021. 
 
Where a decision is taken to specifically list an organisation as a DGR, listing will usually be 
backdated to the beginning of the relevant financial year so that all donations to the organisation in 
that financial year are deductable. 
 
Question 2: 
Senator AYRES: Who made the request for DGR status? Was it the department or the Governor‐
General's office? How was that advanced? 
Mr Reid: The Department of the Treasury manages them. I'd have to take on notice the process— 
Senator AYRES: Do you fill in a form? What is there? How does it— 
Mr Reid: There's a process. 
Senator AYRES: I'd like to know when the process began and who advanced it. Are you able to 
come back to us later in the day? 
Mr Reid: I'll do my best, Senator. 
 
 
Draft response:  
The Executive Director of the Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited requested DGR specific 
listing by writing to the Treasurer on 27 April 2021. This correspondence was forwarded to Treasury 
for consideration. Treasury followed its usual process in considering the application. The proposal 
for DGR specific listing of The Australian Future Leaders Foundation Limited was considered through 
the MYEFO process and subsequently announced on 16 December 2021 in the 2021‐22 MYEFO.  
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